Socioeconomic Status and Child Development

Robert H. Bradley and Robert F. Corwyn

Center for Applied Studies in Education, University of Arkansas at Little Rock, 2801 S. University Ave., Little Rock, Arkansas 72204; e-mail: rhbradley@ualr.edu

Key Words socioeconomic status, poverty, achievement, adjustment, child well-being

■ Abstract Socioeconomic status (SES) is one of the most widely studied constructs in the social sciences. Several ways of measuring SES have been proposed, but most include some quantification of family income, parental education, and occupational status. Research shows that SES is associated with a wide array of health, cognitive, and socioemotional outcomes in children, with effects beginning prior to birth and continuing into adulthood. A variety of mechanisms linking SES to child well-being have been proposed, with most involving differences in access to material and social resources or reactions to stress-inducing conditions by both the children themselves and their parents. For children, SES impacts well-being at multiple levels, including both family and neighborhood. Its effects are moderated by children's own characteristics, family characteristics, and external support systems.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	. 372
HISTORY AND DEFINITION	. 372
SES & WELL-BEING	. 373
Health	. 373
Cognitive and Academic Attainment	. 375
Socioemotional Development	. 377
Models of Mediating Processes	. 378
Resources	. 379
Stress Reactions	. 383
Health-Relevant Behaviors/Lifestyle	. 385
Models of Moderation	. 387
COLLECTIVE SES	. 388
FUTURE DIRECTIONS	. 391

INTRODUCTION

Socioeconomic status (SES) remains a topic of great interest to those who study children's development. This interest derives from a belief that high SES families afford their children an array of services, goods, parental actions, and social connections that potentially redound to the benefit of children and a concern that many low SES children lack access to those same resources and experiences, thus putting them at risk for developmental problems (Brooks-Gunn & Duncan 1997). The interest in SES as a global construct persists despite evidence that there is wide variability in what children experience within every SES level, despite evidence that the link between SES and child well-being varies as a function of geography, culture, and recency of immigration, and despite evidence that the relation between SES and child well-being can be disrupted by catastrophes and internal strife (Bradley & Corwyn 1999, Wachs 2000).

In this chapter we review the history of SES and provide an overview of the association between SES and children's well-being for three major domains of development (cognitive, socioemotional, health). Attention is given to models that attempt to explicate the connection between SES and these aspects of development. Finally, we offer a rationale for expanding attention to collective SES as a way of more fully instantiating the concepts of developmental systems theory into research on SES.

HISTORY AND DEFINITION

Social scientists have shown continued interest in SES even though there has never been complete consensus on precisely what it represents (Liberatos et al. 1988, McLoyd 1997). There has been something of a tug-of-war between proponents of SES as representing class (or economic position) and proponents of SES as representing social status (or prestige). The idea of capital (Coleman 1988) perhaps best embodies the current meaning psychologists hold of SES (Entwistle & Astone 1994, Guo & Harris 2000). Capital (resources, assets) has become a favored way of thinking about SES because access to financial capital (material resources), human capital (nonmaterial resources such as education), and social capital (resources achieved through social connections) are readily connectible to processes that directly affect well-being. Capital is linked to historic ideas about SES, such as social and material "deprivation," and it brings into focus the important dimension of social relationships (Krieger et al. 1997).

Most widely used measures of SES only partially map onto the concepts of capital described by Coleman. Financial capital is reasonably well assessed by household income, but is more often indexed by occupational status. However, neither fully captures the notion of wealth as described by economists (Smith 1999); wealth may be a better measure of the financial resources available in that it is often a more accurate barometer of access to opportunities (Oliver & Shapiro 1995, Ostrove et al. 1999, Williams & Collins 1995). Income is considered a rather volatile indicator of financial capital (Hauser 1994), and the best way of ordering occupations in terms of their actual contributions to financial well-being has been

hotly debated for decades (Davies 1952, Entwisle & Astone 1994, Miller 1991, Grusky & Van Rompaey 1992, Nam & Powers 1983). Most social scientists agree that a combination of income and occupational status provides a better approximation to financial capital than either alone. To more fully capture financial capital, Entwisle & Astone (1994) recommend gathering data on what the family pays for rent or housing. Ostrove and his coworkers (1999) simply asked respondents to estimate the total value of their assets.

Entwisle & Astone (1994) also recommend expanding data collections pertaining to social capital (e.g., number of parents in the home, presence of a grandparent in the home), a suggestion that may garner increasing support given that many children live in households with only one parent. Research showing that occupation often partially determines one's social network suggests that occupational status may also provide some indication of social capital. Likewise, research showing a link between the type of employment parents engage in and parenting practices suggests that occupational status may also capture some of human capital (Kohn & Schooler 1982, Parcel & Menaghan 1990, Rodrigo et al. 2001).

Although there is general consensus that income, education, and occupation together represent SES better than any of these alone (White 1982), there is no consensus on (a) how best to composite the set of indicators; (b) whether it works best to examine relations between SES and child outcomes using a composite, a statistical procedure that includes each indicator, or each indicator singly; or (c) how best to measure each component (Krieger et al. 1997). The predictive value of specific composites have been compared with inconsistent results (Gottfried 1985, Liberatos et al. 1988, White 1982). At times the different indicators seem to be tapping into the same underlying phenomenon, as indicated by their intercorrelations and their similar correlations with outcome measures. At other times, they appear to be tapping into different underlying phenomena and seem to be connected to different paths of influence, as indicated by only modest correlations even among different SES composites and links with different mediating variables (Ostrove et al. 1999). Relatedly, there remains some uncertainty as to whether SES has the same underlying meaning in all ethnic and cultural groups (Williams & Collins 1995).

In overview, the choice of how to measure SES remains open. Part will be determined by the question being examined, part by practical considerations concerning the acquisition of data, and part by the population from whom the data are collected. Regarding this last issue, both theory and empirical findings indicate that SES indicators are likely to perform differently across cultural groups (Bradley 1994, Bronfenbrenner 1995).

SES & WELL-BEING

Health

For years, studies of adults have documented a relation between SES and health (Adler et al. 1994). The data on children is somewhat less complete and less

consistent, but evidence points to a substantial relation that begins before birth (US Dep. Health & Human Services 2000b). Children from low-SES families are more likely to experience growth retardation and inadequate neurobehavioral development in utero (DiPietro et al. 1999, Kramer 1987). They are more likely to be born prematurely, at low birth weight, or with asphyxia, a birth defect, a disability, fetal alcohol syndrome, or AIDS (Crooks 1995, Hawley & Disney 1992, US Dep. Health & Human Services 2000b, Cassady et al. 1997, Vrijheid et al. 2000, Wasserman et al. 1998). Early health problems often emanate from poor prenatal care, maternal substance abuse, poor nutrition during pregnancy, maternal lifestyles that increase the likelihood of infections (smoking, drug use), and living in a neighborhood that contains hazards affecting fetal development (toxic waste dumps) (US Dep. Health & Human Services 2000a).

After birth, low-SES infants are more likely to suffer injuries and to die (Overpeck et al. 1998, Scholer et al. 1999). During childhood, SES is implicated in many diseases, including respiratory illnesses (Cohen 1999, Haan et al. 1989, Johnston-Brooks et al. 1998, Klerman 1991, Rosenbaum 1992). Low SES is associated with an increased likelihood of dental caries (US Dep. Health & Human Services 2000b), higher blood lead levels (Brody et al. 1994a, Starfield 1982, Tesman & Hills 1994), iron deficiency (US Dep. Health & Human Services 2000b, Starfield 1989), stunting (Brooks-Gunn & Duncan 1997, Korenman & Miller 1997, Kotch & Shackelford 1989), and sensory impairment (US Dep. Health & Human Services 2000b, Starfield 1989, Wilson 1993). These outcomes likely reflect an array of conditions associated with low SES, including inadequate nutrition, exposure to tobacco smoke, failure to get recommended immunizations, and inadequate access to health care (US Dep. Health & Human Services 2000a,b; Pollitt et al. 1996; Raisler et al. 1999; Sandel & Schrfstein 1999).

On the other hand, SES is not implicated in all illnesses, and the SES/health gradient appears less steep in more egalitarian nations (Adler et al. 1999). Moreover, the relations between particular SES indicators and health factors may be quite complex. For example, the impact of low income appears to depend on how long poverty lasts and the child's age when the family is poor (Bradley & Whiteside-Mansell 1997, Duncan & Brooks-Gunn 1997, Miller & Korenman 1994).

When low-SES children experience health problems, the consequences are often more severe. Low-SES children born preterm are far more likely to suffer health and developmental consequences than their more affluent counterparts (Parker et al. 1988). Children from low-income families are two to three times as likely to suffer complications from appendicitis and bacterial meningitis and to die from injuries and infections at every age (US Dep. Health & Human Services 2000b). The average length of stay for poor children in acute care hospitals is longer than the average for nonpoor children (Bradley & Kelleher 1992). Equally important are findings that early insults to health may have long-term consequences (McLoyd 1998, Bradley et al. 1994). For example, premature children who lived in poverty for the first 3 years of life manifested more problems in growth, health status, intelligence, and behavior (Bradley et al. 1994); children with high lead levels are at increased risk of long-term neurological problems (Needleman et al. 1990); and low-birthweight children who also had perinatal illnesses experienced more school failure (McGauhey et al. 1991).

Among adolescents, SES is related to health status, but relations are less consistent than for adults (Macintyre & West 1991). Goodman (1999) found that SES was related to depression, obesity, and self-rated overall health (US Dep. Health & Human Services 2000a,b; Call & Nonnemaker 1999). Data from NHANES II indicate that poor teens are more likely to show stunting (Brooks-Gunn & Duncan 1997). However, SES was not associated with asthma and was inconsistently related to suicide attempts and STDs (Goodman 1999).

Biologic impacts during childhood create vulnerabilities that result in adverse health outcomes in adulthood. Power (1991) found that SES measured in middle childhood and adolescence was related to health status at age 23, even controlling for SES at age 23. Hertzman (1999) refers to this as the "biological embedding" of early experience and notes that there is evidence for "latent" effects of early biologic damage (e.g., a higher propensity for adult cardiovascular disease for lowbirthweight children). Specifically, he offers the hypothesis that "systemic differences in the quality of early environments, in terms of stimulation and emotional and physical support, will affect the sculpting and neurochemistry of the central nervous system in ways that will adversely affect cognitive, social, and behavioral development" (p. 89). Little research has been completed on this hypothesis, but research shows that anthropometric indicators of undernutrition during infancy predict cognitive performace in middle childhood and adolescence (Pollitt et al. 1996). Also, Treiber and his coworkers (1999) found evidence that low SES was associated with increased systolic blood pressure and increased left ventricular mass among adolescents.

Cognitive and Academic Attainment

For over 70 years findings on the relationship between SES and intellectual/ academic competence has accumulated. McCall (1981) presented evidence that the association between SES and cognitive performance begins in infancy. Numerous studies have documented that poverty and low parental education are associated with lower levels of school achievement and IQ later in childhood (Alexander et al. 1993, Bloom 1964, Duncan et al. 1994, Escalona 1982, Hess et al. 1982, Pianta et al. 1990, Walberg & Marjoribanks 1976, Zill et al. 1995). Kennedy and colleagues (1963) reported results from a random sample of first- through sixthgrade African American children selected to represent African Americans living in the southeastern United States. The mean IQ of the highest SES group was 25 points higher than the mean of the lowest SES group.

There has been some debate regarding which aspects of SES most strongly connect to cognitive development. Mercy & Steelman (1982) found that each SES measure used in the Health Examination Survey (family income, maternal education, paternal education) predicted intellectual attainment, with education being the best predictor. Maternal education was a stronger predictor than paternal education to

be equally good predictors. This discrepancy may reflect differences in the ages of the children assessed. Mercy & Steelman studied 6- to 11-year-olds, whereas Scarr & Weinberg (1978) studied 15-year-olds. In his meta-analysis White (1982) found that SES accounted for about 5% of the variance in academic achievement. Among the traditional measures of SES, family income accounted for the greatest amount of variance, but SES measures that combined two or more indicators accounted for more variance than single indicators. In a recent study DeGarmo and colleagues (1999) found that each SES indicator (income, education, occupation) was associated with better parenting, which in turn affected school achievement via skill-building activities and school behavior.

Few researchers have concentrated on the relation between parental occupation and cognitive development. However, Parcel & Menaghan (1990) found that mothers who worked in occupations with a variety of tasks and problem solving opportunities provided more warmth and support and a greater number of stimulating materials. Their children manifested more advanced verbal competence. Such findings are consistent with the classic argument of Kohn & Schooler (1982): what parents experience at work, they incorporate into their style of parenting.

There is evidence that the connection between SES and cognitive performance applies to many societies. Mpofu & Van de Vijver (2000) found that among Zimbabwean children social class predicted the frequency with which children used taxonomic rather than functional classification strategies. In their crosscultural review Bradley and colleagues (1996) found that SES indicators were strongly related to cognitive development from infancy through middle childhood. Evidence suggests a particularly strong relation between SES and verbal skills (Mercy & Steelman 1982). Hart & Risley (1995) found major differences in the language proficiency of children from high-SES and low-SES families. Hoff-Ginsberg (1991) also found substantial SES differences in language performance for children, beginning early in life.

In his meta-analysis White (1982) found some evidence that the relation between SES and intellectual/academic attainment diminishes with age. However, Smith and colleagues (1997) found that the effects of family income on achievement among 7-year-olds were similar to the effects on intelligence for 3-year-olds. Likewise, Walberg & Marjoribanks (1976) suggested that adolescents may benefit as much as younger children from a stimulating family environment. "Uncorrected regression can underestimate environmental effects when there are substantial errors in measuring the environment" (p. 546). Their results suggest that for intellectual and academic attainment there may be a kind of accumulated value to family environment and SES, but thus far there is little evidence to substantiate this.

The relation between SES and cognitive attainment may be quite complex, with different components of SES contributing to the development of particular cognitive skills in different ways and with some components of SES serving to moderate the effects of other components. DeGarmo and colleagues (1999) examined the paths between maternal education, occupation, and income and found evidence of both similarities and differences in their connections to school achievement among 6- to 9-year-olds. Several analyses have indicated that the relations for

family income and parental education depend on the number of siblings present in the household (Anastasi 1956, Mercy & Steelman 1982, Walberg & Marjoribanks 1976). Others have discussed the importance of unpacking the effects of socioeconomic status owing to the high level of confounding between socioeconomic and family demographic indicators, but few studies have done so (Brooks-Gunn & Duncan 1997, McLoyd 1998).

SES also appears to affect school attendance and number of years of schooling completed (Haverman & Wolf 1995, Brooks-Gunn & Duncan 1997). The impact on years completed appears to be less than the impact on school achievement. Even so, SES remains one of the most consistent predictors of early high school dropout, with evidence suggesting that it is connected both to low parental expectations and to early initiation of sexual activity (Battin-Pearson et al. 2000).

Socioemotional Development

Although the link between SES and children's social and emotional well-being is not as consistent as the link with cognitive attainment, there is substantial evidence that low-SES children more often manifest symptoms of psychiatric disturbance and maladaptive social functioning than children from more affluent circumstances (Bolger et al. 1995, Brooks-Gunn & Duncan 1997, Lahey et al. 1995, McCoy et al. 1999, McLeod & Shanahan 1993, Moore et al. 1994, Patterson et al. 1989, Sameroff et al. 1987, Starfield 1989, Takeuchi et al. 1991). It is not easy to state the precise relation between SES and socioemotional problems in children. It is often difficult to identify mental illness in young children, owing to the various standards and methods used to assess mental illness. For very young children, there is little evidence of a relation between SES and socioemotional well-being (Earls 1980, Richman et al. 1975). However, the relation emerges in early childhood and becomes reasonably consistent (especially for externalizing problems) in middle childhood (Achenbach et al. 1990, Duncan et al. 1994, McLeod & Shanahan 1993). Among adolescents, low SES is often associated with poor adaptive functioning, an increased likelihood of depression, and delinquent behavior (McLoyd 1997). Conger and colleagues (1997), however, did not find a relation between poverty and adolescent problems. Part of the difference in findings may pertain to who reports on social and emotional well-being. Most often parents and teachers are the reporters, but in the Conger et al. study adolescents reported on their own behavior.

The strength of the relationship between SES and mental disorders varies by type of disorder and race (McLoyd 1997). The relationship is most consistent with schizophrenia and personality disorders, reasonably consistent with mild depression, and inconsistent with neuroses and affective disorders (Ortega & Corzine 1990). Among children 6–17 years old referred to a psychiatric clinic, SES was associated with parent and teacher reports of aggressiveness and delinquency (McCoy et al. 1999).

Higher rates of substance abuse have been reported for low-SES teens, but findings are inconsistent (Wills et al. 1995). The relation is often mediated through

friends' use of substances, academic competence, and parental supportiveness. It is also connected with the experience of negative life events (Wills et al. 1992).

Ortega & Corzine (1990) identified a number of factors that complicate our ability to understand relations between SES and socioemotional adjustment. The two leading theories (social causation and social selection/drift) imply opposite causation. The social causation explanation holds that mental disorder results from poverty and its cofactors; the social selection explanation holds that those with mental disorders gradually drift into lower SES strata. For children, there has been little study of the drift hypothesis because it was generated to explain the gradual decline in status for seriously mentally ill adults. A second complication in interpreting research on SES and mental illness derives from the fact that the poor are more likely to be defined as mentally ill even when they manifest the same level of symptomatology as do more affluent individuals.

In overview, there is substantial evidence linking low SES to less optimal outcomes in nearly every area of functioning. Unfortunately, most studies examined only a single outcome and, even when they examined more than one outcome, little attention was given to whether individual children experienced multiple bad outcomes. According to developmental systems theory, it is very difficult to predict developmental pathways with precision in highly complex, self-constructing organisms like humans (Ford & Lerner 1992, Wachs 2000). The same set of circumstances may potentiate any of a number of outcomes (the principle of equipotentiality) depending on individual strengths and vulnerabilities and other conditions present both concurrent and subsequent to the experience of those circumstances.

For low-SES children, it is quite difficult to predict whether a particular health, cognitive, or emotional problem may eventually emerge. However, it is somewhat easier to predict that low-SES children are likely to experience more developmental problems than affluent children. Results from the Infant Health and Development Program showed that 40% of children born prematurely and who lived in chronic poverty had deficiencies in at least two areas of functioning at age three (Bradley et al. 1994). Likewise, Bradley and his colleagues (2000) found that the quality of the home environment was correlated about 0.40 with the number of developmental problems manifested by adolescents from five different sociocultural groups. Correlations with specific problems varied across groups, but the correlation with the number of problems was virtually identical.

Models of Mediating Processes

The SES literature offers a variety of proposed mechanisms linking SES and child well-being. The MacArthur Network on SES and health placed linking mechanisms in two broad categories: environmental resources/constraints and psychological influences (Adler & Ostrove 1999). Most hypothesized mechanisms have not been adequately explored, especially in terms of applicability to different cultural groups; in effect, most have verisimilitude, not established credibility. Many proposed intervening processes are themselves disconnected from broader

developmental systems models that not only stipulate moderating and mediating processes but mediated moderating and moderated mediating processes as well (Baron & Kenny 1986). In sum, the literature mostly provides bits and pieces of the larger person-process-context-time tableaux described by Bronfenbrenner (1995).

It is not easy to determine with precision the processes through which SES influences child well-being, partly because low SES frequently co-occurs with other conditions that purportedly affect children (e.g., minority and immigrant status, single parenthood, a family member with a disability or serious mental illness, exposure to teratogens and other potentially hazardous environmental conditions) the classic "third variable" problem. It is difficult to disentangle SES from such cofactors when there is evidence that they may exacerbate the effects of SES (i.e., they function as moderators). Direct biological damage may also contribute to SES differences. To be more specific, brain disorders, such as those connected with mental illness, can also result from trauma or exposure to pathogens, both of which are more common among individuals who are low SES. Low-SES children are more often the victims of child abuse, peer aggression, and community violence (Garbarino 1999).

In overview, for a given child from a low-SES family, the mechanism leading to a poorer developmental outcome could be one connected to family SES, a particular SES cofactor (such as single parenthood or minority status), a combination of the two, or even a third variable connected to both (e.g., family conflict). During the course of childhood, the meaning and significance of particular cofactors can change (Moen et al. 1995). For preschool children, living in a deteriorated neighborhood may mean less access to stimulating resources and recreational facilities. For an adolescent, the same neighborhood may mean increased likelihood of affiliation with deviant peers.

Resources

NUTRITION Among the most oft-cited linkages between SES and well-being is access to resources (Klerman 1991). Klerman's model includes seven paths linking low income to health, inability to purchase goods and services essential for health and inability to secure appropriate health services. Mortorell (1980) identified inadequate dietary intake as a key pathway to poor health. According to his model, inadequate dietary intake results in defective nutrient absorption, defective nutrient utilization, and poor defenses against infection. Poor nutritional status, in turn, contributes to an array of morbidities and mortality. Pollitt and colleagues (1996) offer a similar formulation. In addition, they present evidence that poor nutritional status affects brain growth both pre- and postnatally.

Overall evidence supporting the "nutrition pathway" is incomplete, but research showing nutritionally mediated SES impacts on (*a*) growth (Adler et al. 1999, Brooks-Gunn & Duncan 1997, Miller & Korenman 1994), (*b*) the increased likelihood of neural tube defects owing to inadequate intake of folic acid during pregnancy (Wasserman et al. 1998), (*c*) the prevalence of iron deficiency owing to inadequate intake of meats and vegetables rich in iron (US Dep. Health & Human Services 2000a, Oski 1993, Starfield 1989), and (*d*) poor long-term memory following lengthy episodes of poor nutrition (Korenman & Miller 1997) offer support for such a path. Valenzuela (1997) offers evidence that chronic undernutrition can deplete the energy resources of both parent and child, making the child more lethargic and less able to elicit attention from the parent and the parent less sensitive and supportive of the child. The result is not only compromised growth but increased likelihood of insecure attachment, negative affect, and limited mastery motivation.

ACCESS TO HEALTH CARE It is difficult to determine how much poor nutrition contributes to developmental problems because children who lack access to adequate nutrition also tend to lack access to other resources, such as adequate medical care. It is not easy to determine if a condition connected to poor nutrition actually results from poor nutrition or whether it reflects inadequate prenatal care (Blendon et al. 1989; US Dep. Health & Human Services 2000a,b), inadequate preventive care for the child (e.g., failure to obtain all recommended immunizations) (US Dep. Health & Human Services 2000a, Raisler et al. 1999, Sandel & Schrfstein 1999), failure to obtain necessary medical treatment for acute or chronic medical conditions (US Dep. Health & Human Services 2000b), or increased exposure to infection owing to poor personal hygiene (Rushing & Ortega 1979). For example, prematurity and low birthweight are also associated with delayed or absent prenatal care (Crooks 1995, Frank et al. 1992).

Many poor families cannot purchase needed health care services. Poor children often have no medical insurance and, thus, are more likely to use emergency rooms for medical care and may be in more advanced stages of illness before being treated. The generally inadequate educational backgrounds of many poor adults (and the greater prevalence of ethnic minorities and recent immigrants among the poor) may also reduce the likelihood of their seeking help for symptoms of illness because of beliefs about the causes and cures for symptoms that do not square with modern medical practice. In effect, there may be both a lack of money to purchase service and a lack of fit between the care that is available and the care that is wanted (Bradley & Kelleher 1992).

Research does not make clear how significant a role inadequate medical care plays in the health and developmental problems of low-SES children. Social status differences remain even when there is universal health coverage (Baum et al. 1999). In industrialized countries relative material deprivation, rather than absolute material deprivation, may account for much of the SES differential in well-being. Low social status may limit one's social ties (capital) and lead to feelings of helplessness and lack of control, the first reducing one's protection from potential threats to well-being, the second limiting one's own efforts to deal effectively with those threats (Marmot 1999).

HOUSING Dilapidated, crowded housing has long been cited as one of the factors responsible for the SES gradient in child health (Marmot 1999). Poor children often live in homes that have cracks in the floor, inadequate heat, pests, open heating appliances, unprotected stairwells, lead paint, and leaky ceilings, and are crowded (Bradley et al. 2001a, Guo & Harris 2000, Mayer 1997). These conditions lead to increased illnesses and injuries (US Dep. Health & Human Services 2000b). Brooks-Gunn and coworkers (1995), Guo & Harris (2000), and Bradley & Caldwell (1980) have also linked the physical quality of the home environment to children's intellectual and social well-being. Evans and colleagues (1999) have, likewise, linked household crowding to cognitive and emotional functioning.

COGNITIVELY STIMULATING MATERIALS AND EXPERIENCES For over 50 years researchers have argued that low-SES children lack access to cognitively stimulating materials and experiences, which not only limits their cognitive growth but reduces their chances of benefiting from school (Bloom 1964, Hunt 1961). Data from the National Longitudinal Survey of Youth and the National Household Education Survey (Bradley et al. 2001a, Corwyn & Bradley 2000) indicate that children from poor families have less access to a wide variety of different recreational and learning materials from infancy through adolescence. They are less likely to go on trips, visit a library or museum, attend a theatrical performance, or be given lessons directed at enhancing their skills. Access to such material and cultural resources mediates the relation between SES (or family income) and children's intellectual and academic achievement from infancy through adolescence (Bradley 1994, Bradley & Corwyn 2001, Brooks-Gunn et al. 1995, Entwisle et al. 1994, Guo & Harris 2000). The impact becomes greater as the number of negative life events (e.g., family dissolution, loss of employment) and risk conditions (e.g., household crowding, presence of a mentally ill parent) increases (Brooks-Gunn et al. 1995, Sameroff et al. 1993).

Bradley & Corwyn (2001) also found that access to stimulating materials and experiences mediated the relation between SES and children's behavior problems. The connection between SES, stimulating experiences, and children's cognitive functioning is well established (Bradley & Corwyn 1999, Brooks-Gunn & Duncan 1997, McLoyd 1998). Such experiences provide both direct and indirect (i.e., mediated through more capable peers and adults) learning opportunities for children as well as serving as a motivational base for continued learning (Saegert & Winkel 1990). However, the connection between SES, access to stimulating experiences, and behavior problems has been less intensively investigated. Part of the connection would appear to be direct. Human beings are self-constructing organisms that thrive on a diversity of experiences; potentially enriching materials and experiences engage cognitive arousal mechanisms (Ford & Lerner 1992). Learning materials and experiences also afford opportunities for social exchanges and, thereby, engage social arousal mechanisms in a generally productive way. Absent such opportunities, children may become bored and frustrated, leading them to engage in behavior that arouses negative responses from parents and peers. These behaviors may contribute to the kind of coercive styles of parenting that have been hypothesized to increase later behavioral maladjustment (Conger et al. 1997, Dodge et al. 1994, McLoyd 1998).

PARENT EXPECTATIONS AND STYLES Part of the observed connection between SES, cognitively stimulating experiences, and child well-being probably reflects parental attitudes, expectations, and styles of interacting with children. Adams (1998) identified eight major differences in patterns of socialization for children from different social classes: among them, the emphasis given to verbal skills, independence, achievement, and creativity. High-SES parents engage children in more conversations, read to them more, and provide more teaching experiences (Shonkoff & Phillips 2000). Their conversations are richer, contain more contingent responsiveness, and include more efforts to elicit child speech (Hoff-Ginsberg & Tardif 1995, Hart & Risley 1995). Their teaching style includes more scaffolding and complex verbal strategies (Borduin & Henggeler 1981). Bradley & Corwyn (1999), in their review of research on the home observation for measurement of the environment (HOME) inventory, found that these effects applied to children from infancy through adolescence and generally hold for children from diverse ethnic backgrounds. Such differences in parenting practice are strongly implicated in the relation between SES and children's intellectual and academic performance (Hoff-Ginsberg & Tardif 1995, Walberg & Marjoribanks 1976). Even so, the relation between SES and child cognitive and language competence via the stimulation found in the home appears to be a complex one that is associated with both the degree of crowding in the residence and the number of siblings present (Bradley et al. 1994, Evans et al. 1999, Mercy & Steelman 1982, Walberg & Marjoribanks 1976). The distresses and distractions connected with crowding result in fewer and less-rich exchanges between parent and child. Having more siblings results in less allocation of time and attention to each child.

Low-SES parents are less likely to purchase reading and learning materials for their children, less likely to take their children to educational and cultural events, and less likely to regulate the amount of TV their children watch (Bradley et al. 2001a, Hess et al. 1982). As a result, low-SES children more frequently experience school failure (even in the early grades), which moves them on a trajectory of either conduct problems or withdrawal behaviors (Battin-Pearson et al. 2000).

TEACHER ATTITUDES AND EXPECTATIONS Teacher attitudes and expectations may also be part of a complex set of mediators linking low SES to school failure and behavior problems via learning materials and experiences. McLoyd (1998) has argued that teachers tend to perceive low-SES pupils less positively (both in terms of their academic and self-regulatory skills). Teachers provide poor children with less positive attention and less reinforcement for good performance. If children, both prior to school entry and during their school years, have less experience with cognitively stimulating materials and experiences at home, they are more likely to fulfill teachers' negative stereotypes. This increases the likelihood of negative interactions with teachers, a problem that may be exacerbated for minority children or recently immigrated children without good skills in English. Over time, the frustrations connected with school failure and negative exchanges with teachers are likely to increase acting out behaviors (or depression for some children). It also increases the likelihood that children will affiliate with deviant peers.

Stress Reactions

Researchers have consistently argued that stress accounts for much of the difference in outcomes between low-SES and high-SES children (Adler et al. 1999, Bradley & Whiteside-Mansell 1997, McLoyd 1998, Shonkoff & Phillips 2000). Low-SES families experience more threatening and uncontrollable life events, are disproportionately exposed to environmental hazards and violence, and are at increased risk of experiencing destabilizing events such as family dissolution and household moves (Bradley & Whiteside-Mansell 1997, Gad & Johnson 1980). The chronic strain associated with unstable employment and persistent economic hardship can lead to diminished self-esteem, a diminished sense of control over one's life, anger, and depression (Amato & Zuo 1992, Dohrenwend 1990, Pearlin et al. 1981). It also increases the likelihood of partner and child abuse (Garbarino 1992). Coping with these strains also reduces the likelihood that one can engage in health-promoting activities (National Center for Children in Poverty 1990).

ALLOSTATIC LOAD There are immediate (and more long-term) physiologic responses to stresses associated with low SES and its cofactors (e.g., crowded housing, household and neighborhood violence). Health scientists have proposed the concepts of allostatis and allostatic load to help explain the impact of stress on adaptive functioning (Johnston-Brooks et al. 1998, McEwen & Seeman 1999). Allostatis refers to the body's capacity to adapt and adjust to the demands imposed by environmental stressors via physiological changes. The constant turning on and turning off of stress-related physiologic responses creates allostatic load, including more long-term changes (e.g., persistent elevation in blood pressure). Research done mostly with primates and human adults indicates that allostatic load is connected to a wide array of both biologic and behavioral differences, including growth, the timing of pubertal changes, cognitive functioning, metabolism, and susceptibility to illness.

There has been limited research specifically targeted to children, so the impact of stress mediators during childhood is less clear. There is some evidence for disregulated hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activity (leading to increased activity level), disregulated serotonergic function (which may lead to increased hostility and suicide), and impaired immune system functioning (which leads to increased illness via changes in cardiovascular activity) (Johnston-Brooks et al. 1998, McEwen & Seeman 1999). What seems clearer is that allostatic load (with its myriad mediating processes) can have numerous lifelong negative consequences, some of which are seriously damaging; however, much remains to be determined about the precise pathways for particular outcomes during each stage of the life course (Francis et al. 1999).

Allostatic load appears to affect parenting (Francis et al. 1999, PARENTING McEwen & Seeman 1999). The stresses, uncertainties, and low social standing connected to low SES bring about a sense of powerlessness, low self-esteem, learned helplessness, and reduced orientation toward mastery and efficacy (Baum et al. 1999, McLoyd 1998). Longitudinal research on health indicates that living in a low-SES environment over a prolonged period of time tends to deplete energy reserve capacity and leads to negative emotional states such as anxiety, depression, and hostility, which in turn, lead to poorer relationships with family members and friends (Gallo & Matthews 1999, Wilkinson 1999). The MacArthur SES and Health Psychosocial Working Group have termed this set of behaviors "reactive responding" (Taylor & Seeman 1999). Reactive responding includes chronic vigilance, acting on the basis of environmental demands rather than self-generated goals, having simple, short-term goals, developing a narrow range of skills, maintaining a present orientation, reacting emotionally, and using few options to deal with environmental demands.

McLoyd (1990) found that the distress among poor parents can lead to the over use of negative control strategies, low warmth and responsiveness, and failure to adequately monitor children. Animal studies suggest that early caregiving responses help determine the infant's stress reactivity, which then affects risk for disease and, in the longer term, interest in providing care for one's own offspring (Francis et al. 1999). For older children, such parenting behaviors can result in low self-esteem and poor adaptive functioning. McLoyd has also argued that if a parent reacts by becoming too restrictive, it can lead to bonding with peers rather than parents (see also Elder et al. 1985).

Longitudinal studies provide substantial empirical support for the path linking low SES to lower competence and maladaptive behavior via harsh or neglectful parenting and compromised parent-child relationships (Bradley & Corwyn 2001; Conger et al. 1992, 1997; Elder et al. 1985; Felner et al. 1995; Luster et al. 1995; Lempers et al. 1989; McCoy et al. 1999; McLoyd et al. 1994; Morrison & Eccles 1995). Research shows that it is the absence of positive parenting, not just the presence of negative parenting, that links low SES to child well-being (Bolger et al. 1995, Brody et al. 1999, McCoy et al. 1999). For example, Bolger and colleagues (1995) found that maternal involvement mediated 34% of the variance for externalizing behavior problems, 31% of the variance for self-esteem, and 14% of the variance for popularity. Brody and colleagues (1999) reported that economic hardship reduced the likelihood that mothers would set high developmental goals for their children and engage in competency promoting activities. This resulted in poorer self-regulation and less academic and psychosocial competence on the part of African American children ages 6-9. In an earlier study Brody and colleagues (1994b) found that if parents remained optimistic, despite being poor, it served as a protective factor against negative parenting.

Despite general support for the "stress reactions" path, there have been some exceptions (Felner et al. 1995, McLeod & Shanahan 1993), and there is some evidence that age and ethnicity moderate the relation (Bradley & Corwyn 2001). There has also been less support for the hypothesis that parent's emotional responsiveness mediates the relation between low SES and child well-being (McLeod & Shanahan 1993).

Health-Relevant Behaviors/Lifestyle

A third class of processes often mentioned as mediators between SES and child well-being is health-relevant (or lifestyle) behaviors (Adler & Ostrove 1999, Klerman 1991, Williams & Collins 1995). Members of the lower social classes use tobacco and alcohol more but tend to diet and exercise less (Baum et al. 1999, Dohrenwend 1990, Harrell et al. 1998). To some extent these behavioral differences are derivative of the attitudes that distinguish higher and lower social classes (Rank 2000), but they may also reflect stress reactions and social affiliations (Paltiel 1988). These factors are associated with poorer physical and mental health, which may make it harder for low SES parents to provide warm, responsive, stimulating care or to monitor their children (Garbarino 1992, Natl. Res. Counc. 1993). Such parents also provide a less desirable role model for children, albeit the role-modeling hypothesis has not received strong scientific support for all areas of child functioning (McLoyd 1998).

There has been relatively little study of most lifestyle behaviors as mediators of the SES/child well-being relation, although there is evidence of the intergenerational transmission of substance abuse. Wills and coworkers (1995) found that low parental education increased the likelihood of smoking, which was related to adolescent academic and behavioral competence. This, in turn, increased the likelihood that the adolescent would use drugs and would affiliate with friends who also used drugs.

As children move toward adolescence, their own health-relevant behaviors become conduits for adaptive functioning (Harrell et al. 1998, Natl. Res. Counc. 1993). Sedentary lifestyles, poor eating habits, and early engagement in risky behaviors (smoking, substance use, sexual behavior, criminal activities) frequently lead to more serious health and adjustment difficulties. Although the health-relevant behavior path is appealing as a link between SES and child well-being, research findings are inconsistent. These lifestyle behaviors do not appear to account for most of the SES/well-being gradient (Adler et al. 1999, Harrell et al. 1998, O'Malley & Johnston 1999, Wohlfarth & Van den Brink 1998).

In overview, families with more money, higher levels of education, and higher occupational status are likely to purchase an array of goods and services that directly benefit their children. High-SES families may also use their wealth to live in good houses in safe neighborhoods, thereby affording their children protection from harm. The goods and services also become part of more elaborate paths involving chains of mediators (wherein particular goods and services may more indirectly affect child outcomes) (Brody et al. 1999, Conger et al. 1997, Guo & Harris 2000). However, few such models have been tested on multiple populations and few have been tested on children of different ages.

Perhaps most importantly, many of the proposed models reflect developmentally restricted conceptualizations of life-span processes. Some attention has been given to the timing and duration of poverty in its effects on child well-being, with ample evidence to support the hypothesis that persistent poverty has long-term negative consequences (Bradley & Whiteside-Mansell 1997, Duncan & Brooks-Gunn 1997, McEwen & Seeman 1999). There is less evidence for timing effects. Nonetheless, studies on both animals and humans provide some support for the hypothesis that early deprivation has long-term negative consequences (Duncan & Brooks-Gunn 1997, McEwen & Seeman 1999). There is even some tantalizing evidence that changes in family income, somewhat independent of parental education, have consequences for child development (Garrett et al. 1994).

The principles of parallel, convergent, and reciprocal causation are very important to bear in mind when interpreting results of completed studies or when planning future studies on mediation (Anderson 1999). The principle of parallel causation stipulates that several different processes or factors may be sufficient, but not necessary, to produce a particular developmental outcome. The principle of convergent causation stipulates that a particular process may be necessary but not sufficient to produce a particular outcome; its effect depends on the presence of a second factor. The principle of reciprocal causation stipulates that bidirectional influences among several processes and factors interacting across time are required to produce a particular developmental outcome. Bradley et al. (2001b) examined the relation between three aspects of children's home environments (learning stimulation, maternal responsiveness, and spanking) from infancy through adolescence using hierarchical linear modeling. They found that each contributed, independent of the other, to reading achievement and that learning stimulation and spanking contributed to behavior problems, independent of the others.

One of the main limitations of research on SES is the failure to simultaneously consider correlated mediating processes or factors when studying how one particular process operates to influence a specific developmental outcome. Consider again, for example, the nutrition pathway. The same children who experience inadequate nutrition are also more likely to be exposed to environmental hazards preand postnatally and to receive inadequate parenting (Pollitt et al. 1996). Low-SES children are more likely to be exposed to drugs (including alcohol and tobacco) prenatally. These exposures are connected to prematurity, low birthweight, interuterine growth retardation, and perinatal complications, not to mention longerterm health, growth, and cognitive difficulties (Hawley & Disney 1992, Korenman & Miller 1997, McLoyd 1998). If one is interested in a possible link between SES and cognitive functioning via poor nutrition, it may be critical to include a consideration of one or more of these other processes. Otherwise, one may attribute cognitive problems to poor nutrition when they actually result from poor parenting or a combination of poor nutrition and prenatal exposure to drugs. The practice of nutrition researchers in controlling for cognitively stimulating materials and experiences when studying the impact of inadequate nutrition on cognitive development is a step in the right direction (Pollitt et al. 1996). A few researchers have used techniques such as structural equation modeling to examine the joint function of multiple mediation processes connecting SES to child functioning (Brody et al. 1999, Dodge et al. 1994). However, model misspecification remains a major impediment to understanding the precise mechanisms that link SES and most child outcomes.

Models of Moderation

Although most research on SES and child outcomes has focused on mediating processes, it is generally acknowledged that these processes are not the same for all children (McLoyd 1998, Wills et al. 1995). For any given mediator model, certain characteristics of children and certain environmental conditions serve as moderators (Wachs 2000). Whereas mediator models are concerned with a process through which SES operates to influence children's development, moderator models are concerned with the conditions in which the process operates. The two models complement one another, with each adding insights into the nature of relations between SES and child outcomes (Baron & Kenny 1986). If researchers obtain weak or inconsistent results when investigating a particular association, it often implicates a moderator effect.

The discovery of a moderator often provides clues regarding a mediating process that underlies the relation between a predictor and outcome variable (Rutter 1990). The connection between mediators and moderators is often tighter (i.e., more fundamental) than may be initially apparent. Although Baron & Kenny (1986) went to great lengths to point out the distinctions between mediators and moderators, they also discussed how each often implicates the other.

The potential value of searching for moderators in regard to SES and child well-being would seem particularly great in light of the two principle classes of mechanisms thought to connect them: access to resources and stress reactions. Taylor & Seeman (1999) compiled a list of possible moderators of the relation between physical and/or psychological health. Belief in personal control, dispositional optimism, social support, self-esteem, coping strategies, and reactive responding were frequently (although not inevitably) observed to be moderators of the SES and health relationship, with social support exhibiting a particularly strong relation to psychological health. Their review emphasized the fact that these same variables may also partially mediate the relation between SES and health. In each case, the characteristic of the individual either increased or decreased resources or increased or decreased harmful stressors. The frequent finding that SES/child development relations differ by race offers another example of a moderator that likely implicates either access to resources or stress exposure as connecting paths. The discrimination and oppression often faced by members of minority groups both reduces the likelihood of accessing resources and increases the likelihood of experiencing stress (Garcia Coll et al. 1996, McLoyd 1990).

Resiliency researchers have identified several factors that may serve as moderators of the relation between SES and child well-being, with emphasis on those that help children cope with the kinds of adversity connected with low SES (Garmezy 1993, Masten & Coatsworth 1998, Rutter 1990). Garmezy (1993) recognizes three broad categories that may function as moderators: (a) personality/dispositional features such as self-esteem, locus of control, self-efficacy, optimism, stress reactivity, humor, active coping strategies, communication skills, cognitive competence, affective responses to others, and predictability; (b) family characteristics, such as cohesion, shared values, patience, conflict, consistency of rules, orderliness, and the presence of supportive adults; and (c) availability of external support systems. Each of these either changes the likelihood of accessing needed goods and services, changes the likelihood of encountering stress, or changes one's reactions to stress-inducing events and conditions. An example from the attachment literature is the finding that infants with difficult temperaments who are in low-resource environments tend to form insecure attachments (Vaughn & Bost 1999). Compas and colleagues (2001) call for research that investigates how social context (e.g., SES) may moderate the relation between individual differences (e.g., temperament) and coping responses to stress.

In contrast to the paucity of research on moderators of the SES child outcome relation, SES is frequently conceptualized as a moderator of relationships effecting children. Examples include the relation between maternal depression and parenting practices (Lovejoy et al. 2000) and the relation between risk factors and adolescent substance abuse (Wills et al. 1995).

COLLECTIVE SES

It is generally acknowledged that SES operates at multiple levels to affect wellbeing (Adler et al. 1999, Krieger et al. 1997, Leventhal & Brooks-Gunn 2000). Community-level SES measurement can provide information about exposures to violence and hazards as well as access to recreational and institutional resources. For children, it is important to consider community-level SES because there is evidence that neighborhood of residence is associated with health, achievement, and behavioral outcomes even when individual-level income and education are controlled (Baum et al. 1999, Leventhal & Brooks-Gunn 2000, Wasserman et al. 1998). The effects appear to begin prior to birth, with research indicating that living in a lower SES neighborhood increases the likelihood of neural tube defects (Vrijheid et al. 2000, Wasserman et al. 1998). Neighborhood effects on health appear to continue through childhood. Sargent and coworkers (1995) found that living in a densely populated, high poverty community was associated with a ninefold increase in lead burden. Also, adolescent females with a family history of cardiovascular disease showed higher levels of blood pressure and left ventricular mass if they lived in low-SES neighborhoods (Treiber et al. 1999).

Research relating neighborhood SES to health is quite limited and not fully consistent. According to Leventhal & Brooks-Gunn (2000), the most consistent finding is that living in a high-SES neighborhood has positive benefits for school

readiness and school achievement, perhaps more so for European Americans than members of minority groups. There is also evidence that living in a low-SES neighborhood may contribute to development of behavior problems and increase the likelihood of nonmarital childbearing (Crane 1991, Loeber & Wikstrom 1993). Osofsky (1999) argued that children growing up in poor urban environments are frequently exposed to guns, knives, drugs, and acts of random violence. As a result, many children manifest posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms. Exposure to such violence also interrupts a child's ability to think clearly and solve problems (Garbarino 1999).

According to the general ecological hypothesis, as the number of stresses in a neigborhood increases and as the number of supports decreases, distress among those living in the neighborhood rises (Zuvarin 1989). Social disorganization theory posits that neighborhoods characterized by a high percentage of low-SES residents, and cofactors of low SES such as single parenthood and ethnic heterogeneity, decrease the likelihood of social order (Sampson 1992). Wilson (1991) stated that neighborhoods with high rates of joblessness and single-parent families tend to produce a feeling of "social isolation" for adults caring for children. This, over time, undermines family management and results in socialization practices and family lifestyles that are not conducive to adaptive functioning (e.g., active problem solving, household organization, warm and stimulating parenting, a focus on schooling, adequate monitoring). It also results in a loss of self- and group identification that sustains customary behavior and prevents deviant behavior (Harrell & Peterson 1992).

Jencks & Mayer (1990) identified four kinds of theories relating neighborhood poverty to maladaptive social behavior: (*a*) contagion theories—the idea that peers influence the spread of problem behaviors; (*b*) collective socialization theories—the idea that role models and monitoring are critical to healthy and adaptive functioning; (*c*) competition theories—the concept that people compete for scarce resources; and (*d*) relative deprivation theories—the theory that individuals evaluate their standing relative to the standing of their neighbors. Duncan & Brooks-Gunn (1997) examined aspects of these theories with both very young children and adolescents. The presence of affluent neighbors had a positive effect on IQ, teenage births, and school dropout, suggesting the influence of adult role models and monitoring as mediating variables. Evidence in favor of the "contagion" effect occurred only for adolescents.

Leventhal & Brooks-Gunn (2000) used a somewhat more concise approach in their review of potential mechanisms linking neighborhood poverty to child well-being. They recognized three classes of mediators: (*a*) institutional resources (e.g., schools, child care facilities, medical facilities, employment opportunities), (*b*) relationships (the characteristics of parents and support networks available to assist parents), and (*c*) norms/collective efficacy. Social and health scientists contend that social capital in the form of social affiliation and social cohesion within neighborhoods and communities may help reduce the risk of morbidity and maladaptive functioning (Kawachi 1999). They argue that informal social control, maintenance of healthy norms, and access to various forms of social support can contribute to both healthier lifestyles and positive well-being. Collective efficacy involves the extent to which there are social connections in the neighborhood and to which residents monitor and supervise the behavior of others in accordance with social standards (Sampson et al. 1997). There is also some support for the collective efficacy hypothesis in the form of the social control of children and affiliation with deviant peers functioning to mediate the relation between neighborhood SES and adolescent behavior, mental health, and achievement (Darling & Steinberg 1997, Elliott et al. 1996, Sampson et al. 1997).

Support for institutional resources as mediators of relations between neighborhood SES and child well-being is quite limited. Few studies have examined the mediating role played by the child care options available, medical resources found in the community, or recreational facilities present. Ennett and coworkers (1997) found that characteristics of schools partially mediated the relation between neighborhood characteristics and rates of cigarette and alcohol use. Entwisle and colleagues (1994) found that mathematics reasoning skills of school-age boys were related to the type of neighborhood the boys lived in. They speculated that this difference may derive from differential opportunities to participate in complex rule-based games with peers.

A companion set of hypotheses relates to how the physical and social quality of neighborhoods affects parenting, Leventhal & Brooks-Gunn's (2000) third class of potential mediators. Parental decisions regarding how far children are allowed to travel from home without supervision depends on the parent's appraisal of potential harm present in the neighborhood (Jacobs & Bennet 1993). Earls and coworkers (1994) reported that parents who live in dangerous neighborhoods admit using more harsh control and verbal aggression with their children. Young & Gately (1988) found that the rates of maltreatment by females was lower when substantial numbers of women with access to material resources were available for support. Garbarino (1999) also demonstrated a relationship between social cohesion and abuse rates. However, few studies have examined the extent to which differences in parenting practices actually mediate the relation between neighborhood SES and child well-being. Klebanov and colleagues (1998) found that the quality of learning experiences in the home mediated the relation between neighborhood and IQ for 3-year-olds. Greenberg and colleagues (1999) also found that the home environment mediated the relation between neighborhood risk and teacher-reported social competence and achievement. Even so, research suggests that most of the variance in parenting is not accounted for by neighborhood of residence (Caspi et al. 2000, Furstenberg et al. 1999).

It is methodologically difficult to establish causal relationships between complex social settings such as neighborhoods and individual behavioral outcomes because results are often consistent with more than one explanation (Duncan & Raudenbush 1999, Natl. Res. Counc. 1993). There are a number of potentially confounding factors that make interpretations about neighborhood effects difficult. Most notably, any differences observed in the incidence of negative behaviors or outcome may be due to the characteristics of those people who selected to live there (a "selection effect" or "omitted variables bias"). Also, major social stressors may have a direct effect on a large proportion of neighborhood residents (an "aggregation effect"). Even so, for certain classes of child outcomes (e.g., congenital anomalies), living in particular low-SES neighborhoods (i.e., near a toxic waste dump) carries a significantly elevated risk of poor development (Vrijheid et al. 2000).

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The literature reviewed above presents a complex portrait of the relation between SES and child development. Rearchers have specified, and at least partially examined, numerous mechanisms linking SES and child well-being. Not yet fully known is how the various components of SES interact synergistically with each other or with other aspects of family, neighborhood, peer, and institutional contexts to affect the course of development (McLoyd 1998). It is also difficult to attribute causality to SES because children's environments interact with their genetic makeup to impact well-being in many different ways (Huston et al. 1997, Wachs 2000). Children with different genetic attributes will respond differentially to the same environmental circumstances. In the diathesis-stress model of psychopathology, individuals who are genetically predisposed to a particular stress-related problem will be more sensitive to stress-inducing experiences (Paris 1999). On the other side of the equation, environments help determine how genes express themselves (Plomin & Crabbe 2000). Genes could have greater or lesser effects depending on environment. Research in the next decade should help explicate how SES operates through multiple mechanisms simultaneously to affect developmental course, how those paths vary across ethnic and cultural groups, and how different components of SES function conjointly to effect different developmental systems.

Visit the Annual Reviews home page at www.AnnualReviews.org

LITERATURE CITED

- Achenbach T, Bird H, Canino G, Phares V, Gould M, Rubio-Stipec M. 1990. Epidemiological comparisons of Puerto Rican and U.S. mainland children: parent, teacher and self reports. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 29:84–93
- Adams BN. 1998. *The Family: a Sociological Interpretation*. New York: Harcourt Brace
- Adler NE, Boyce T, Chesney MA, Cohen S, Folkman S, et al. 1994. Socioeconomic status and health: the challenge of the gradient. *Am. Psychol.* 49:15–24
- Adler NE, Marmot M, McEwen BS, Stewart J, eds. 1999. *Socioeconomic Status and Health in Industrialized Nations*. New York: NY Acad. Sci.
- Adler NE, Ostrove JM. 1999. Socioeconomic status and health: what we know and what we don't. See Adler et al. 1999, pp. 3–15
- Alexander KL, Entwisle DR, Dauber SL. 1993. First-grade behavior: its short- and long-term consequences for school performance. *Child Dev.* 64:801–14
- Amato PR, Zuo J. 1992. Rural poverty, urban

poverty, and psychological well-being. Sociol. Q. 33:229-40

- Anastasi A. 1956. Intelligence and family size. Psychol. Bull. 53:187–209
- Anderson NB. 1999. Solving the puzzle of socioeconomic status and health: the need for integrated, multilevel, interdisciplinary research. See Adler et al. 1999, pp. 302–3
- Baron R, Kenny D. 1986. The moderatormediator variable distinction in social psychological research. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 11: 1173–82
- Battin-Pearson S, Newcomb MD, Abbott RD, Hill KG, Catalano RF, Hawkins JD. 2000. Predictors of early high school drop-out: a test of five theories. *J. Educ. Psychol.* 92: 568–82
- Baum A, Garofalo JP, Yali AM. 1999. SES and chronic stress: does stress account for SES effects on health? See Adler et al. 1999, pp. 131–44
- Blendon R, Aiken L, Freeman H, Corey C. 1989. Access to medical care for black and white Americans. *JAMA* 261:278–81
- Bloom B. 1964. *Stability and Change in Human Characteristics*. New York: Wiley
- Bolger KE, Patterson CJ, Thompson WW, Kupersmidt JB. 1995. Psychosocial adjustment among children experiencing persistent and intermittent family economic hardship. *Child Dev.* 66:1107–29
- Borduin CM, Henggeler N. 1981. Social class, experimental setting and task characteristics as determinants of mother-child interactions. *Dev. Psychol.* 17:209–14
- Bradley RH. 1994. The HOME Inventory: review and reflections. In Advances in Child Development and Behavior, ed. H Reese, pp. 241–88. San Diego, CA: Academic
- Bradley RH, Caldwell BM. 1980. The relation of the home environment, cognitive competence, and IQ among males and females. *Child Dev.* 51:1140–48
- Bradley RH, Corwyn RF. 1999. Parenting. In Child Psychology: A Handbook of Contemporary Issues, ed. C Tamis-LeMonda, L Balter, pp. 339–62. New York: Psychology Press

- Bradley RH, Corwyn RF. 2001. Age and ethnic variations in family process mediators of SES. Presented at Conf. Socioeconomic Status, Parenting, Child Dev., Minneapolis, MN
- Bradley RH, Corwyn RF, Burchinal M, Mc-Adoo HP, Garcia Coll C. 2001a. The home environments of children in the United States. Part 2: relations with behavioral development through age 13. *Child Dev.* In press
- Bradley RH, Corwyn RF, Caldwell BM, Whiteside-Mansell L, Wasserman GA, et al. 2000. Measuring the home environments of children in early adolescence. J. Res. Adolesc. 10:247–89
- Bradley RH, Corwyn RF, McAdoo HP, Garcia Coll C. 2001b. The home environments of children in the United States. Part 1: variations by age, ethnicity, and poverty status. *Child Dev.* In press
- Bradley RH, Corwyn RF, Whiteside-Mansell L. 1996. Life at home: same time, different places. *Early Dev. Parent*. 5:251–69
- Bradley RH, Kelleher KJ. 1992. Childhood morbidity and mortality: the growing impact of social factors. Presented at Conf. Social Sci. Health Policy: Building Bridges Between Research and Action, Washington, DC
- Bradley RH, Whiteside-Mansell L. 1997. Children in poverty. In *Handbook of Prevention* and Treatment With Children and Adolescents, ed. RT Ammerman, M Hersen, pp. 13– 58. New York: Wiley
- Bradley RH, Whiteside-Mansell L, Mundfrom DJ, Casey PH, Kelleher KJ, Pope SK. 1994. Early indications of resilience and their relation to experiences in the home environments of low birthweight, premature children living in poverty. *Child Dev.* 65:346–60
- Brody DJ, Pirkle JL, Kramer RA, Flegal KM, Matte TD, et al. 1994a. Blood lead levels in the U.S. population. *JAMA* 272:277–81
- Brody GH, Flor DL, Gibson NM. 1999. Linking maternal efficacy beliefs, developmental goals, parenting practices, and child competence in rural single-parent African American families. *Child Dev.* 70:1197–208
- Brody GH, Stoneman Z, Flor D, McCrary C,

Hastings L, Conyers O. 1994b. Financial resources, parent psychological functioning, parent co-caregiving, and early adolescent competence in rural two-parent African-American families. *Child Dev.* 65:590–605

- Bronfenbrenner U. 1995. Developmental ecology through space and time: a future perspective. See Moen et al. 1995, pp. 619– 48
- Brooks-Gunn J, Duncan GJ. 1997. The effects of poverty on children. *Future Child*. 7(2):55–71
- Brooks-Gunn J, Klebanov PK, Liaw F. 1995. The learning, physical, and emotional environment of the home in the context of poverty: The Infant Health and Development Program. *Child. Youth Serv. Rev.* 17:251–76
- Call KT, Nonnemaker J. 1999. Socioeconomic disparities in adolescent health: contributing factors. See Adler et al. 1999, pp. 352–55
- Caspi A, Taylor A, Moffitt TE, Plomin R. 2000. Neighborhood deprivation affects children's mental health: environmental risks, identified in genetic design. *Psychol. Sci.* 11:338–42
- Cassady C, Farel A, Guild P, Kennelly J, People-Sheps M, et al. 1997. *Maternal and Child Health Model Indicators*. Washington, DC: Maternal Child Health Bur., US Dep. Health Human Serv.
- Cohen S. 1999. Social status and susceptibility to respiratory infections. See Adler et al. 1999, pp. 246–53
- Coleman JS. 1988. Social capital in the creation of human capital. *Am. J. Sociol.* 94 (Suppl.):S95–120
- Compas BE, Connor-Smith JK, Saltzman H, Thomsen AH, Wadsworth ME. 2001. Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: problems, progress, and potential in theory and research. *Psychol. Bull.* 127:87– 127
- Conger RD, Conger KJ, Elder GH. 1997. Family economic hardship and adolescent adjustment: mediating and moderating processes. See Duncan & Brooks-Gunn 1997, pp. 288– 310
- Conger RD, Conger KJ, Elder GH, Lorenz F,

Simons R, Whitbeck L. 1992. A family process model of economic hardship and adjustment in early adolescent boys. *Child Dev.* 63:526–41

- Corwyn RF, Bradley RH. 2000. Developmental accomplishments and family-child activities of preschoolers in the United States: comparisons across three major ethnic groups and poverty status. Presented at Meet. Southwest. Soc. Res. Hum. Dev., Eureka Springs, AR, April 13–15
- Crane J. 1991. The epidemic theory of ghettos and neighborhood effects on dropping out and teenage childbearing. *Am. J. Sociol.* 96:1126–59
- Crooks D. 1995. American children at risk: poverty and its consequences for children's health, growth, and school achievement. *Yearb. Phys. Anthropol.* 38:57–86
- Darling N, Steinberg L. 1997. Assessing neighborhood effects using individual-level data. In *Neighborhood Poverty: Policy Implications in Studying Neighborhoods*, ed. J Brooks-Gunn, GJ Duncan, JL Aber, 2:120– 31. New York: Russell Sage Found.
- Davies AF. 1952. Prestige of occupations. Br. J. Sociol. 3:134–47
- DeGarmo DS, Forgatch MS, Martinez CR. 1999. Parenting of divorced mothers as a link between social status and boys' academic outcomes: unpacking the effects of socioeconomic status. *Child Dev.* 70:1231–45
- DiPietro JA, Costigan KA, Hilton SC, Pressman EK. 1999. Effects of socioeconomic status and psychosocial stress on the development of the fetus. See Adler et al. 1999, pp. 356–58
- Dodge KA, Petit FS, Bates JE. 1994. Socialization mediators of the relation between socioeconomic status and child conduct problems. *Child Dev.* 65:649–65
- Dohrenwend B. 1990. Socioeconomic status (SES) and psychiatric disorders. *Soc. Psychiatry Psychiatr. Epidemiol.* 25:41–47
- Duncan GJ, Brooks-Gunn J. 1997. *Consequences of Growing Up Poor*. New York: Russell Sage Found.
- Duncan GJ, Brooks-Gunn J, Klebanov P. 1994.

Economic deprivation and early childhood development. *Child Dev.* 65:296–318

- Duncan GJ, Raudenbush SW. 1999. Assessing the effects of context in studies of children and youth development. *Educ. Psychol.* 34:29–41
- Earls F. 1980. Prevalence of behavior problems in 3-year-old children: a cross-national replication. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 37:1153–57
- Earls F, McGuire J, Shay S. 1994. Evaluating a community intervention to reduce the risk of child abuse: methodological strategies in conducting neighborhood surveys. *Child Abuse Negl.* 18:473–85
- Elder G, Caspi A, Van Nguyen T. 1985. Resourceful and vulnerable children: family influences in hard times. In *Development as Action in Context*, ed. R Silbereisen, H Eyferth, pp. 167–86. Berlin: Springer-Verlag
- Elliott D, Wilson WJ, Huizinga D, Sampson R, Elliott A, Rankin B. 1996. The effects of neighborhood disadvantage on adolescent development. J. Res. Crime Delinq. 33:389– 426
- Ennett ST, Flewelling RL, Lindrooth RC, Norton EC. 1997. School and neighborhood characteristics associated with school rates of alcohol, cigarette, and marijuana use. J. Health Soc. Behav. 38:55–71
- Entwisle DR, Alexander KL, Olson LS. 1994. The gender gap in math: its possible origins in neighborhood effects. *Am. Sociol. Rev.* 59:822–38
- Entwisle DR, Astone NM. 1994. Some practical guidelines for measuring youth's race/ethnicity and socioeconomic status. *Child Dev.* 65:1521–40
- Escalona S. 1982. Babies at double hazard: early development of infants at biologic and social risk. *Pediatrics* 70:670–75
- Evans GW, Maxwell LE, Hart B. 1999. Parental language and verbal responsiveness to children in crowded homes. *Dev. Psychol.* 35:1020–23
- Felner RD, Brand S, DuBois DL, Adan AM, Mulhall PF, Evans EG. 1995. Socioeconomic disadvantage, proximal environmental experiences, and socioemotional and

academic adjustment in early adolescence: investigation of a mediated effects model. *Child Dev.* 65:296–318

- Ford DH, Lerner RM. 1992. Developmental Systems Theory: An Integrated Approach. Newbury Park, CA: Sage
- Francis D, Champagne FA, Liu D, Meaney MJ. 1999. Maternal care, gene expression, and the development of individual differences in stress reactivity. See Adler et al. 1999, pp. 66–84
- Frank R, Strobino D, Salkever D, Jackson C. 1992. Updated estimates of the impact of prenatal care on birthweight outcomes by race. *J. Hum. Resourc.* 27:629–42
- Furstenberg FF, Cook TE, Eccles J, Elder G, Sameroff A. 1999. Managing To Make It: Urban Families and Adolescent Success. Chicago: Univ. Chicago Press
- Gad M, Johnson J. 1980. Correlates of adolescent life stresses related to race, SES, and levels of perceived support. J. Clin. Child. Psychol. 9:13–16
- Gallo LC, Matthews KA. 1999. Do negative emotions mediate the association between socioeconomic status and health? See Adler et al. 1999, pp. 226–45
- Garbarino J. 1992. The meaning of poverty in the world of children. Am. Behav. Sci. 35:220–37
- Garbarino J. 1999. The effects of community violence on children. In *Child Psychology*, *A Handbook of Contemporary Issues*, ed. L Balter, C Tamis–LaMonda, pp. 412–25. New York: Psychology Press
- Garcia Coll C, Lamberty G, Jenkins R, McAdoo HP, Crnic K, et al. 1996. An integrative model for the study of developmental competencies in minority children. *Child Dev.* 67:1891–914
- Garmezy N. 1993. Children in poverty: resilience despite risk. *Psychiatry* 56:127–36
- Garrett P, Ng'andu N, Ferron J. 1994. Poverty experiences of young children and the quality of their home environments. *Child Dev.* 65:331–45
- Goodman E. 1999. The role of socioeconomic status gradients in explaining differences in

US adolescents' health. Am. J. Public Health 89:1522–28

- Gottfried AW. 1985. Measures of socioeconomic status in child development research: data and recommendations. *Merrill-Palmer Q.* 31:85–92
- Greenberg MT, Lengua LJ, Coie JD, Pinderhughes EE. 1999. Predicting developmental outcomes at school entry using a multiplerisk model: four American communities. *Dev. Psychol.* 35:403–17
- Grusky DB, Van Rompaey SE. 1992. The vertical scaling of occupations: some cautionary comments and reflections. *Am. J. Sociol.* 97:1712–28
- Guo G, Harris KM. 2000. The mechanisms mediating the effects of poverty on children's intellectual development. *Demography* 37:431–47
- Haan MN, Kaplan GA, Syme SL. 1989. Socioeconomic status and health: old observations and new thoughts. In *Pathways to Health: The Role of Social Factors*, ed. JP Bunker, DS Gomby, BH Kehrer, pp. 176– 233. Palo Alto, CA: Henry J. Kaiser Found.
- Harrell AV, Peterson GE. 1992. Drugs, Crime, and Social Isolation: Barriers to Urban Opportunities. Washington, DC: Urban Inst. Press
- Harrell JS, Bangdiwala SI, Deng S, Webb JP, Bradley C. 1998. Smoking initiation in youth: the roles of gender, race, socioeconomics, and developmental status. J. Adolesc. Health 23:271–79
- Hart B, Risley TR. 1995. *Meaningful Differences in the Everyday Experience of Young American Children*. Baltimore, MD: Brookes
- Hauser RM. 1994. Measuring socioeconomic status in studies of child development. *Child Dev.* 65:1541–45
- Haverman R, Wolfe R. 1995. The determinants of children's attainments: a review of methods and findings. J. Econ. Lit. 33:1829–78
- Hawley T, Disney E. 1992. Crack's children: the consequences of maternal cocaine abuse. *Soc. Policy Rep. Soc. Res. Child Dev.* 6(4):1– 22

- Hertzman C. 1999. The biological embedding of early experience and its effects on health in adulthood. See Adler et al. 1999, pp. 85–95
- Hess RD, Holloway S, Price G, Dickson WP. 1982. Family environments and the acquisition of reading skills. In *Families As Learning Environments of Children*, ed. LM Laosa, IE Sigel, pp. 87–113. New York: Plenum
- Hoff-Ginsberg E. 1991. Mother-child conversation in different social classes and communicative settings. *Child Dev.* 62:782–96
- Hoff-Ginsberg E, Tardif T. 1995. Socioeconomic status and parenting. In *Handbook* of *Parenting*, ed. MH Bornstein, 4:161–87. Mahweh, NJ: Erlbaum
- Hunt JM. 1961. Intelligence and Experience. New York: Ronald
- Huston AC, McLoyd VC, Garcia Coll C. 1997. Poverty and behavior: the case for multiple methods and levels of analysis. *Dev. Rev.* 17:376–93
- Jacobs J, Bennett M. 1993. Decision-making in one parent and two parent families: influence and information selection. J. Early Adolesc. 13:245–66
- Jencks C, Mayer S. 1990. The social consequences of growing up in a poor neighborhood. In *Inner City Poverty in the United States*, ed. L Lynn, M McGeary, pp. 111–86. Washington, DC: Natl. Acad. Press
- Johnston-Brooks CH, Lewis MA, Evans GW, Whalen CK. 1998. Chronic stress and illness in children: the role of allostatic load. *Psychosom. Med.* 60:597–603
- Kawachi I. 1999. Social capital and community effects on population and individual health. See Adler et al. 1999, pp. 120–30
- Kennedy W, Van de Riet V, White JA. 1963. A normative sample of intelligence and achievement of Negro elementary school children in southeastern United States. *Monogr. Soc. Res. Child Dev.* 28(6) whole issue
- Klebanov PK, Brooks-Gunn J, McCarton CM, Mccormick MC. 1998. The contribution of neighborhood and family income upon developmental test scores over the first three years of life. *Child Dev.* 69:1420–36

- Klerman LV. 1991. Alive and Well? New York: Natl. Cent. Children Poverty, Columbia Univ.
- Kohn ML, Schooler C. 1982. Job conditions and personality: a longitudinal assessment of their reciprocal effects. *Am. J. Soc.* 87:1257– 83
- Korenman S, Miller JE. 1997. Effects of longterm poverty on the physical health of children in the National Longitudinal Survey of Youth. See Duncan & Brooks-Gunn 1997, pp. 70–99
- Kotch J, Shackelford J. 1989. *The nutritional* status of low-income preschool children in the United States: a review of the literature. ERIC Doc. ED 308 965 PS 018 152
- Kramer MS. 1987. Determinants of low birthweight: methodological assessment and meta-analysis. *Bull. WHO* 65:663–737
- Krieger N, Williams DR, Moss HW. 1997. Measuring social class in US public health research: concepts, methodologies, and guidelines. Annu. Rev. Public Health 18:341–78
- Lahey BB, Loeber R, Hart EL, Frick PJ, Applegate B, et al. 1995. Four-year longitudinal study of conduct disorders in boys: patterns and predictors of persistence. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 104:83–93
- Lempers JD, Clark-Lempers D, Simons RL. 1989. Economic hardship, parenting, and distress in adolescence. *Child Dev.* 60:25–39
- Leventhal T, Brooks-Gunn J. 2000. The neighborhoods they live in: the effect of neighborhood residence on child and adolescent outcomes. *Psychol. Bull.* 126:309–37
- Liberatos P, Link BG, Kelsey JI. 1988. The measurement of social class in epidemiology. *Epidemiol. Rev.* 10:87–121
- Loeber R, Wikstrom PH. 1993. Individual pathways to crime in different types of neighborhoods. In *Integrating Individual and Ecological Aspects of Crime*, ed. DP Farrington, RJ Sampson, P Wikstrom, pp. 169–204. Stockholm: Natl. Counc. Crime Prev.
- Lovejoy MC, Graczyk PA, O'Hare E, Neuman G. 2000. Maternal depression and parenting behavior: a meta-analytic review. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 20:561–92

- Luster T, Reischl T, Gassaway J, Gomaa H. 1995. Factors related to early school success among African-American children from low income families. Presented at Bienn. Meet. Soc. Res. Child Dev, Indianapolis, IN
- Macintyre S, West P. 1991. Lack of class variation in health in adolescence: an artifact of an occupational measure of class. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 30:665–73
- Marmot M. 1999. Epidemiology of socioeconomic status and health: Are determinants within countries the same as between countries? See Adler et al. 1999, pp. 16– 19
- Masten AS, Coatsworth JD. 1998. The development of competence in favorable and unfavorable environments. *Am. Psychol.* 53: 205–20
- Mayer S. 1997. What Money Can't Buy. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Univ. Press
- McCall RB. 1981. Nature-nurture and the two realms of development: a proposed integration with respect to mental development. *Child Dev.* 52:1–12
- McCoy MB, Firck PJ, Loney BR, Ellis ML. 1999. The potential mediating role of parenting practices in the development of conduct problems in a clinic-referred sample. J. Child. Fam. Stud. 8:477–94
- McEwen BS, Seeman T. 1999. Protective and damaging effects of mediators of stress. See Adler et al. 1999, pp. 30–47
- McGauhey P, Starfield B, Alexander C, Ensminger M. 1991. Social environment and vulnerability of low birth weight children: a social-epidemiological perspective. *Pediatrics* 88:943–53
- McLeod J, Shanahan M. 1993. Poverty, parenting, and children's mental health. Am. Sociol. Rev. 58:351–66
- McLoyd VC. 1997. The impact of poverty and low socioeconomic status on the socioemotional functioning of African-American children and adolescents: mediating effects. In *Social and Emotional Adjustment and Family Relations in Ethnic Minority Families*, ed. RD Taylor, M Wang, pp. 7–34. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum. 239 pp.

- McLoyd VC. 1998. Socioeconomic disadvantage and child development. *Am. Psychol.* 53:185–204
- McLoyd VC. 1990. The impact of economic hardship on black families and children: psychological distress, parenting, and socioemotional development. *Child Dev.* 61:311– 46
- McLoyd VC, Jayaratne TE, Ceballo R, Borquez J. 1994. Unemployment and work interruption among African American single mothers: effects on parenting and adolescent socioemotional functioning. *Child Dev.* 65:562–89
- Mercy JA, Steelman LC. 1982. Familial influence on the intellectual attainment of children. *Am. Sociol. Rev.* 47:532–42
- Miller DC. 1991. Handbook of Research Design and Social Measurement. Newbury Park, CA: Sage. 5th ed.
- Miller JE, Korenman S. 1994. Poverty and children's nutritional status in the United States. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 140:233–42
- Moen P, Elder GH, Luscher K, eds. 1995. Examining Lives in Context. Washington, DC: Am. Psychol. Assoc.
- Moore KA, Morrison DR, Zaslow M, Glei DA. 1994. *Ebbing and flowing, learning and growing: family economic resources and children's development*. Presented at Res. Brief., Board Child. Fam. Washington, DC: Child Trends, Inc.
- Morrison LA, Eccles J. 1995. Poverty, parenting, and adolescents' achievement. Presented at Bienn. Meet. Soc. Res. Child Dev. Indianapolis, IN
- Mortorell R. 1980. Interrelationships between diet, infectious disease, and nutritional status. In Social and Biological Predictors of Nutritional Status, Physical Growth and Neurological Development, ed. HS Greene, FE Johnson, pp. 188–213. New York: Academic
- Mpofu E, Van de Vijver FJR. 2000. Taxonomic structure in early to middle childhood: a longitudinal study of Simbabwean schoolchildren. *Int. J. Behav. Dev.* 24:204–312
- Nam CB, Powers MG. 1983. The Socioeco-

nomic Approach to Status Measurement. Houston, TX: Cap & Gown

- Natl. Cent. Child. Poverty. 1990. Five Million Children: A Statistical Profile of Our Poorest Young Children. New York: Columbia Univ. Sch. Public Health
- Natl. Res. Counc. 1993. Losing Generations. Washington, DC: Natl. Acad. Press
- Needleman HL, Schell A, Bellinger D, Leviton A, Allred E. 1990. The long-term effects of low doses of lead in childhood: an 11-year follow-up report. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 322:83– 88
- Oliver ML, Shapiro TM. 1995. *Black Wealth*, *White Wealth*. New York: Routledge
- O'Malley PM, Johnston LD. 1999. Drinking and driving among US high school seniors, 1984–1997. Am. J. Public Health 89:678–84
- Ortega ST, Corzine J. 1990. Socioeconomic status and mental disorders. *Res. Commun. Ment. Health* 6:149–82
- Oski F. 1993. Iron deficiency in infancy and childhood. N. Engl. J. Med. 329(3):190–93
- Osofsky JD. 1999. The impact of violence on children. *Future Child*. 9(3):33–49
- Ostrove JM, Feldman P, Adler NE. 1999. Relations among socioeconomic indicators and health for African-Americans and whites. *J. Health Psychol.* 4:451–63
- Overpeck MD, Brenner RA, Trumble AC, Trifiletti LB, Berendes HW. 1998. Risk factors for infant homicide in the United States. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 339:1211–16
- Paltiel FL. 1988. Is being poor a mental health hazard? *Women's Health* 12:189–211
- Parcel TL, Menaghan EG. 1990. Maternal working conditions and children's verbal facility: studying the intergenerational transmission of inequality from mothers to young children. Soc. Psychol. Q. 53:132–47
- Paris J. 1999. Genetics and Psychopathology: Predisposition-Stress Interactions. Washington, DC: Am. Psychiatr. Press
- Parker S, Greer S, Zuckerman B. 1988. Double jeopardy: the impact of poverty on early child development. *Pediatr. Clin. N. Am.* 35:1127– 241
- Patterson G, DeBarsyshe B, Ramsey E. 1989.

A developmental perspective on antisocial behavior. *Am. Psychol.* 44:329–35

- Pearlin LI, Menaghan EG, Lieberman MA, Mullan JT. 1981. The stress process. J. Health Soc. Behav. 22:337–56
- Pianta RC, Egeland B, Sroufe LA. 1990. Maternal stress and children's development: prediction of school outcomes and identification of protective factors. See Rolf et al. 1990, pp. 215–35
- Plomin R, Crabbe J. 2000. DNA. *Psychol Bull*. 126:806–28
- Pollitt E, Golub M, Gorman K, Grantham-McGregor S, Levitsky D, et al. 1996. A reconceptualization of the effects of undernutrition on children's biological, psychosocial, and behavioral development. *Soc. Policy Rep. Soc. Res. Child Dev.* 10(5):1–24
- Power C. 1991. Social and economic background and class inequalities in health among young adults. Soc. Sci. Med. 32:411–17
- Raisler J, Alexander C, O'Campo P. 1999. Breast-feeding and infant illness: a dose response relationship? *Am. J. Public Health* 89:25–30
- Rank MR. 2000. Socialization of socioeconomic status. In *Handbook of Family Devel*opment and Intervention, ed. WC Nichols, pp. 129–42. New York: Wiley
- Richman N, Stevenson J, Graham P. 1975. Prevalence of behavior problems in threeyear-old children: an epidemiological study in a London borough. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 16:277–87
- Rodrigo MJ, Janssens JM, Ceballos E. 2001. Reasoning and action complexity: sources and consequences on maternal child-rearing behavior. *Int. J. Behav. Dev.* 25:50–59
- Rolf J, Masten A, Cicchetti D, Nuechterlein K, Weintraub S, eds. 1990. *Risk and Protective Factors in Development of Psychopathology*. New York: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Rosenbaum S. 1992. Child health and poor children. Am. Behav. Sci. 35:275–89
- Rushing WA, Ortega ST. 1979. Socioeconomic status and mental disorder: new evidence and a sociomedical formulation. *Am. J. Sociol.* 84:1175–200

- Rutter M. 1990. Psychosocial resilience and protective mechanisms. See Rolf et al. 1990, pp. 181–214
- Saegert S, Winkel GH. 1990. Environmental psychology. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 41:441–77
- Sameroff AJ, Seifer R, Baldwin A, Baldwin C. 1993. Stability of intelligence from preschool to adolescence: the influence of social and family risk factors. *Child Dev.* 64:80–97
- Sameroff AJ, Seifer R, Zax M, Barocas R. 1987. Early indicators of developmental risk: the Rochester longitudinal study. *Schizophr. Bull.* 13:383–94
- Sampson RJ. 1992. Family management and child development: insights from social disorganization theory. In Advances in Criminological Theory, ed. J McCord, 3:63–93. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Books
- Sampson RJ, Raudenbush SW, Earls F. 1997. Neighborhoods and violent crime: a multilevel study of collective efficacy. *Science* 277:918–24
- Sandel M, Schrfstein J. 1999. Not Safe at Home: How America's Housing Crisis Threatens the Health of Its Children. Boston: Boston Med. Cent. Children's Hosp., The Doc4Kids Project
- Sargent JD, Brown MJ, Freeman A, Bailey D, Goodman D, Freeman DH. 1995. Childhood lead poisoning in Massachusetts's communities: its association with sociodemographic and housing characteristics. Am. J. Public Health 85:528–34
- Scarr S, Weinberg RA. 1978. The influence of "family background" on intellectual attainment. Am. Sociol. Rev. 43:674–92
- Scholer SJ, Hickson GB, Ray WA. 1999. Sociodemographic factors identify US infants at high risk for injury mortality. *Pediatrics* 103:1183–88
- Shonkoff JP, Phillips DA, eds. 2000. From Neurons to Neighborhoods: The Science of Early Childhood Development. Washington, DC: Natl. Acad. Press
- Smith JP. 1999. Healthy bodies and thick wallets: the dual relation between health and economic status. J. Econ. Perspect. 13:145–66
- Smith JR, Brooks-Gunn J, Klebanov P. 1997.

The consequences of living in poverty for young children's cognitive and verbal ability and early school achievement. See Duncan & Brooks-Gunn 1997, pp. 132–89

- Starfield B. 1982. Family income, ill health and medical care of U.S. children. J. Public Healthy Policy 3:244–59
- Starfield B. 1989. Child health care and social factors: poverty, class, race. *Bull. NY Acad. Med.* 65:299–306
- Takeuchi DT, Williams DR, Adair RK. 1991. Economic stress in the family and children's emotional and behavioral problems. J. Marriage Fam. 53:1031–41
- Taylor SE, Seeman TE. 1999. Psychosocial resources and the SES-health relationship. See Adler et al. 1999, pp. 210–25
- Tesman JR, Hills A. 1994. Developmental effects of lead exposure in children. Soc. Policy Rep. Soc. Res. Child Dev. 8(3):1–16
- Treiber R, Harshfield G, Davis H, Kapuku G, Moore D. 1999. Stress responsivity and body fatness: links between socioeconomic status and cardiovascular risk factors in youth. See Adler et al. 1999, pp. 435–38
- US Dep. Health Hum. Serv. 2000a. Child Health USA 2000. Washington, DC: US GPO
- US Dep. Health Hum. Serv. 2000b. *Healthy People 2010*. Washington, DC: US GPO
- Valenzuela M. 1997. Maternal sensitivity in a developing society: the context of urban poverty and infant chronic undernutrition. *Dev. Psychol.* 33:845–55
- Vaughn BE, Bost KK. 1999. Attachment and temperament: redundant, independent, or interacting influences on interpersonal adaptation and personality development? In *Handbook of Attachment: Theory, Research, and Clinical Applications*, ed. J Cassidy, PR Shaver, pp. 198–225. New York: Guilford
- Vrijheid M, Dolk H, Stone D, Alberman E, Scott JES. 2000. Socioeconomic inequalities in risk of congenital anomaly. *Arch. Dis. Child.* 82:349–52
- Wachs TD. 2000. Necessary but Not Sufficient. Washington, DC: Am. Psychol. Assoc.
- Walberg HJ, Marjoribanks K. 1976. Family environment and cognitive development:

twelve analytic models. *Rev. Educ. Res.* 46: 527–51

- Wasserman CR, Shaw GM, Selvin S, Gould JB, Syme SL. 1998. Socioeconomic status, neighborhood social conditions, and neural tube defects. *Am. J. Public Health* 88:1674– 80
- White KR. 1982. The relation between socioeconomic status and academic achievement. *Psychol. Bull.* 91:461–81
- Wilkinson RG. 1999. Health, hierarchy, and social anxiety. See Adler et al. 1999, pp. 48–63
- Williams DR, Collins C. 1995. U. S. socioeconomic and racial differentials in health: patterns and explanations. *Annu. Rev. Sociol.* 21:349–86
- Wills TA, McNamara G, Vaccaro D. 1995. Parental education related to adolescent stress-coping and substance use: development of a mediational model. *Health Psychol.* 14:464–78
- Wills TA, Vaccaro D, McNamara G. 1992. Live events, family support, and competence in adolescent substance use. *Am. J. Commun. Psychol.* 20:349–74
- Wilson AL. 1993. Poverty and children's health. Child Youth Fam. Serv. Q. 16:14–16
- Wilson WJ. 1991. Studying inner-city social dislocation: the challenge of public agenda research. Am. Sociol. Rev. 56:1–14
- Wohlfarth T, Van den Brink W. 1998. Social class and substance use disorders: the value of social class as distinct from socioeconomic status. Soc. Sci. Med. 47:51–68
- Young G, Gately T. 1988. Neighborhood impoverishment and child maltreatment. *J. Fam. Issues* 9:240–54
- Zill N, Moore K, Smith E, Stief T, Coiro M. 1995. The life circumstances and development of children in welfare families: a profile based on national survey data. In *Escape From Poverty: What Makes a Difference For Children?* ed. PL Chase-Lansdale, J Brooks-Gunn, pp. 38–59. New York: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Zuvarin SJ. 1989. The ecology of child abuse and neglect: review of the literature and presentation of data. *Violence Vict.* 4:101–20

CONTENTS

Frontispiece—Endel Tulving	xvi
PREFATORY	
Episodic Memory: From Mind to Brain, Endel Tulving	1
GENETICS OF BEHAVIOR	
Genetic Contributions to Addiction, John C. Crabbe	435
BRAIN IMAGING/COGNITIVE NEUROSCIENCE Child-Clinical/Pediatric Neuropsychology: Some Recent Advances, Byron P. Rourke, S. A. Ahmad, D. W. Collins, B. A. Hayman-Abello, S. E. Hayman-Abello, and E. M. Warriner	309
Audition and Its Biological Bases	
Change Detection, Ronald A. Rensink	245
Memory	
Remembering Over the Short-Term: The Case Against the Standard Model, <i>James S. Nairne</i>	53
JUDGMENT AND DECISION MAKING	
Rationality, Eldar Shafir and Robyn A. LeBoeuf	491
BIOLOGICAL AND GENETIC PROCESSES IN DEVELOPMENT	
Gene-Environment Interplay in Relation to Emotional and Behavioral Disturbance, <i>Michael Rutter and Judy Silberg</i>	463
Development in Societal Context	
Socioeconomic Status and Child Development, Robert H. Bradley and Robert F. Corwyn	371
Mood Disorders	
Depression: Perspectives from Affective Neuroscience, Richard J. Davidson, Diego Pizzagalli, Jack B. Nitschke, and Katherine Putnam	545
PSYCHOPATHOLOGY: VARIOUS DISORDERS	
Causes of Eating Disorders, Janet Polivy and C. Peter Herman	187

Insomnia: Conceptual Issues in the Development, Maintenance and Treatment of Sleep Disorder in Adults, <i>Colin A. Espie</i>	215
CLINICAL ASSESSMENT	
Clinical Assessment, James M. Wood, Howard N. Garb, Scott O. Lilienfeld, and M. Teresa Nezworski	519
Adult Clinical Neuropsychology	
Adult Clinical Neuropsychology: Lessons from Studies of the Frontal Lobes, <i>Donald T. Stuss and Brian Levine</i>	401
Self and Identity	
Self and Social Identity, Naomi Ellemers, Russell Spears, and Bertjan Doosje	161
ALTRUISM AND AGGRESSION	
Human Aggression, Craig A. Anderson and Brad J. Bushman	27
INTERGROUP RELATIONS, STIGMA, STEREOTYPING, PREJUDICE, DISCRIMINATION	
Intergroup Bias, Miles Hewstone, Mark Rubin, and Hazel Willis	575
Cultural Influences	
Cultural Influences on Personality, Harry C. Triandis and Eunkook M. Suh	133
Organizational Psychology or Organizational Behavior	
Organizational Behavior: Affect in the Workplace, Arthur Brief and Howard Weiss	279
LEARNING AND PERFORMANCE IN EDUCATIONAL SETTINGS	
Motivational Beliefs, Values, and Goals, <i>Jacquelynne S. Eccles</i> and Allan Wigfield	109
Psychobiological Factors In Health	
Emotions, Morbidity, and Mortality: New Perspectives from Psychoneuroimmunology, Janice K. Kiecolt-Glaser, Lynanne McGuire, Theodore F. Robles, and Ronald Glaser	83
PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGICAL DISORDERS AND PSYCHOLOGICAL EFFECTS ON MEDICAL DISORDERS	
Effects of Psychological and Social Factors on Organic Disease: A Critical Assessment of Research on Coronary Heart Disease, David S. Krantz and Melissa K. McCeney	341

ANALYSIS OF LATENT VARIABLES

Latent Variables in Psychology and the Social Sciences,	
Kenneth A. Bollen	605

INDEXES

Author Index	635
Subject Index	679
Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors, Volumes 43–53	705
Cumulative Index of Chapter Titles, Volumes 43–53	709

Errata

Online log of corrections to the Annual Review of Psychology corrections: Steven Regeser López and Peter J. Guarnaccia **Cultural Psychopathology: Uncovering the Social World of Mental Illness** Annu. Rev. Psychol. 2000, Vol. 51: 571–598.

http://psych.annualreviews.org/errata.shtml